

Gulf Coast Restoration: RESTORE Act and Related Efforts

/name redacted/ Specialist in Natural Resources Policy

/name redacted/ Acting Section Research Manager

/name redacted/ Specialist in Environmental Policy

Updated July 24, 2017

Congressional Research Service

7-.... www.crs.gov R43380

Summary

The Gulf of Mexico coastal environment (Gulf Coast) stretches over approximately 600,000 square miles across five U.S. states: Texas, Louisiana, Mississippi, Alabama, and Florida. It is home to more than 22 million people and more than 15,000 species of sea life. Efforts are ongoing to restore this environment, which has been damaged by specific events such as the *Deepwater Horizon* spill and hurricanes as well as by disturbances to wetlands and water quality from human alterations and other impacts. The issue for Congress is the implementation, funding, and performance of congressionally sanctioned restoration efforts for the Gulf Coast.

Ongoing Efforts to Restore the Gulf Coast. The Gulf Coast environment has been degraded over time due to, among other things, altered hydrology, loss of barrier islands and coastal wetland habitat, issues associated with low water quality, and other human impacts and natural processes. Preexisting environmental issues throughout the Gulf Coast have been affected and in some cases exacerbated by natural hazards and manmade catastrophes. Among other events, Hurricanes Katrina and Rita caused widespread damage to wetland and coastal areas along the Gulf. A number of federal agencies—the Army Corps of Engineers, the Fish and Wildlife Service, the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, and the Environmental Protection Agency, among others—are engaged in ongoing efforts to restore areas or aspects of the Gulf Coast environments. Significant state and local efforts to restore the Gulf Coast also have been undertaken, in some cases in consultation with the federal government. The *Deepwater Horizon* oil spill resulted in a new set of restoration efforts and funds.

Restoration in Response to *Deepwater Horizon*. The *Deepwater Horizon* explosion on April 20, 2010, resulted in an unprecedented discharge of oil in U.S. waters, eventually oiling more than 1,100 miles of U.S. Gulf Coast shoreline. As an identified responsible party, the energy company BP is liable for response (i.e., cleanup) costs, as well as specified economic damages and natural resource damages related to the spill.

Efforts to mitigate and recover from the *Deepwater Horizon* spill have initiated several new processes that are expected to supplement ongoing Gulf Coast restoration work. In particular, three major processes are likely to significantly affect restoration work going forward: first, the dissemination of approximately \$5.3 billion in Clean Water Act penalties, as required in the RESTORE Act (P.L. 112-141); second, the dissemination of \$2.55 billion in criminal penalties from responsible parties by the nonprofit National Fish and Wildlife Foundation (NFWF), as required under relevant court settlements; and third, the assessment and provision of \$8.8 billion in Natural Resources Damage Assessment (NRDA) penalties under the Oil Pollution Act of 1990, as amended (P.L. 101-380). Initial funding under NFWF and NRDA early restoration efforts was first released in 2013 and 2014, respectively, whereas the Treasury Department and Gulf Coast Ecosystem Restoration Council began to release funding for certain planning activities under the RESTORE Act in 2015.

Issues for Congress. Congressional interest in Gulf Coast restoration may include oversight of previously passed legislation (P.L. 112-141 and P.L. 101-380), including progress to date and any related legislative changes that may be required. Congress also may be interested in the effect of these efforts on ongoing Gulf Coast restoration, coordination between the multiple aforementioned processes, and the effectiveness of these efforts going forward. As a result of differences in the origins and implementation of each effort, Congress has varying degrees of oversight and control over the dissemination of funding to restore the Gulf Coast. Restoration of the Gulf Coast is complicated from a congressional perspective because multiple restoration processes are interrelated but occur largely outside of the traditional appropriations process (including funds being used by nonfederal sources).

Contents

Introduction	. 1
Introduction to Deepwater Horizon Restoration	. 1
Introduction to Congressional Role	
Background on the Gulf Coast Ecosystem	. 2
Prespill Federal Restoration Activities in the Gulf	. 3
Deepwater Horizon Oil Spill: Environmental Impacts	. 4
Federal Restoration in the Gulf since the Deepwater Horizon Oil Spill	. 6
Mabus Report and Gulf Coast Ecosystem Restoration Task Force	. 6
Environmental and Economic Restoration Efforts and Funding	. 8
RESTORE Act/Gulf Coast Ecosystem Restoration Trust Fund	
Fund Administration	
Funding Distribution and Authorized Uses	
Funding Levels	
Status	
National Fish and Wildlife Foundation Funding	15
Status	17
Natural Resource Damages Under the Oil Pollution Act	17
NRDA Process	18
Status	18
Other Settlement Funding for Gulf Coast Restoration	19
Potential Issues and Questions for Congress	19
Coordination	20
Planning	21
Implementation	22
Balancing Goals	23
Concluding Remarks	24

Figures

Figure 1. Selected Impacts of the Gulf Coast Oil Spill	. 5
Figure 2. RESTORE Act Distribution of Clean Water Act (CWA) Penalties	10

Tables

Table 1. Schedule of Payments to NFWF Gulf Environmental Benefit Fund

Table A-1. Sources of Funding for Restoration in the Gulf Region	. 25
Table A-2. Ongoing Federal Ecosystem Restoration and Related Efforts in the Gulf	. 28

Appendixes

Contacts

Author Contact Information

Introduction

The Gulf of Mexico coastal region (Gulf Coast) stretches over the shoreline areas of five U.S. states: Texas, Louisiana, Mississippi, Alabama, and Florida. The coastal environment has been altered over time due to changes in hydrology, loss of barrier islands and coastal wetland habitat, issues associated with low water quality, human development, and natural processes, among other things. The federal government has addressed these changes through ecosystem restoration activities in the region over the past few decades. Major restoration projects led by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (Corps), the Fish and Wildlife Service (FWS), the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA), and the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) have been implemented. Significant state and local efforts to restore the Gulf Coast have also been undertaken, in some cases in consultation with the federal government.

The Gulf Coast has also been affected by large-scale natural and manmade disasters that have significantly affected the environment and economy of the region. Indeed, these disasters have led to changes in restoration efforts, sometimes in a significant fashion. For example, in 2005, Hurricanes Katrina and Rita caused widespread damage to wetland and coastal areas along the Gulf, and altered the plans for restoring some parts of the coast. In 2010, a manmade disaster, the *Deepwater Horizon* oil spill, resulted in an unprecedented discharge of oil in U.S. waters and oiling of over 1,100 miles of U.S. shoreline.

Introduction to Deepwater Horizon Restoration

The oil spill had short-term ecological effects on coastal habitats and species, and is expected to result in long-term ecological effects (these effects are largely uncertain). This spill increased attention toward the Gulf Coast environment and modified perceptions about restoring the Gulf Coast ecosystem. In particular, the oil spill focused attention on the natural resources impacted by the incident and long-term natural resource restoration issues that existed before the spill.

As an identified responsible party,¹ the oil and gas company BP is liable for response (i.e., cleanup) costs, as well as specified economic and natural resource damages related to the spill.² As of the date of this report, oil cleanup operations have diminished substantially, and various claims processes seeking to compensate parties for damages related to the spill have been settled. Some funds already have been released and targeted toward environmental and economic restoration. Some of the primary funding streams include the following:

• Clean Water Act (CWA) civil damages paid by responsible parties, 80% of which are expected to support the efforts outlined under the Resources and Ecosystems, Sustainability, Tourist Opportunities, and Revived Economies act of the Gulf Coast States Act of 2012 (Subtitle F of P.L. 112-141, also known as the RESTORE Act);

¹ For the purpose of this report, BP is discussed as if it is the sole responsible party—a key term in the existing liability and compensation framework. However, other parties are also considered responsible parties. The Department of Justice named nine defendants in a civil suit filed December 15, 2010. See Department of Justice, "Attorney General Eric Holder Announces Civil Lawsuit Against Nine Defendants for Deepwater Horizon Oil Spill," press release, December 15, 2010, at http://www.justice.gov/opa/pr/2010/December/10-ag-1442.html.

² Oil Pollution Act, 33 U.S.C. §2702.

- other CWA civil and criminal penalties, including funding for projects to be selected by the nonprofit National Fish and Wildlife Foundation (NFWF) under court settlements; and
- funding to compensate for spill impacts through the Natural Resources Damage Assessment (NRDA) process, a component of oil spill liability pursuant to the Oil Pollution Act.³

Each of these funding streams is subject to its own conditions, priorities, and processes, and is expected to be overseen by different entities. In some cases, funds may be spent only on restoration of habitat damaged by the oil spill. In other cases, funds can address a wider range of issues, such as economic development.

Introduction to Congressional Role

Congress has varying degrees of oversight and control over the dissemination of funding to restore the Gulf Coast. The RESTORE Act, enacted in July 2012, established a framework for the dissemination of expected civil penalties under the Clean Water Act. In this act, to provide for long-term environmental and economic restoration of the region, Congress authorized the creation of a trust fund to collect monies derived from these penalties, established guidelines for allocating and awarding funds for ecosystem and economic restoration, and provided for monitoring and reporting on progress of restoration. Separately, Congress also has an interest in overseeing other ongoing restoration processes, including the NRDA process (implemented by NOAA, pursuant to the Oil Spill Pollution Act) and the allocation of restoration funds to NFWF, an independent nonprofit that was established and funded by Congress also funds (through discretionary appropriations) and oversees multiple federal agencies conducting ongoing restoration actions in the Gulf Coast region that are often related to, but in some cases undertaken apart from, activities initiated since the *Deepwater Horizon* spill.

Restoration of the Gulf Coast is complicated from a congressional perspective because multiple restoration processes are interrelated, but largely occur outside of the traditional appropriations process (including funds being used by nonfederal sources). With multiple sources of funding for ecosystem and economic restoration, Congress may be interested in how one or more restoration processes implement their activities, how they coordinate with each other, and how they are approaching and affecting the restoration of the Gulf Coast.

The remainder of this report provides information on environmental damage and restoration activities related to the *Deepwater Horizon* spill. It includes an overview of previous, ongoing restoration work in the Gulf Coast region and a more detailed discussion of the implementation of the RESTORE Act and other *Deepwater Horizon*-related processes. It concludes with a discussion of potential issues for Congress.

Background on the Gulf Coast Ecosystem

The Gulf Coast region is home to more than 22 million people and 15,000 species over five southern states: Texas, Louisiana, Mississippi, Alabama, and Florida. Animal, plant, and microbial populations depend on the Gulf's unique processes to survive. Overall, the Gulf Coast environment includes multiple interconnected ecosystems spanning 600,000 square miles of

³ 33 U.S.C. 2701.

shoreline of the Gulf of Mexico.⁴ These ecosystems provide services that encompass aesthetic, economic, and environmental values for their residents. For instance, barrier islands and wetland complexes may provide some coastal storm damage protection benefits for coastal communities. They provide habitat for a number of commercially and recreationally important species of fish, invertebrates, mammals, and birds, including many threatened and endangered species. These ecosystems also filter water, remove and trap contaminants, and store carbon, among other functions.

The *Deepwater Horizon* spill is one of several events and ongoing processes that have altered the Gulf Coast ecosystems over time. Prior to the spill, the ecosystems were undergoing large changes due to human development and natural processes. For example, large-scale sediment and habitat loss was occurring, in part, due to altered water flows from the Mississippi River; water pollution was being exacerbated by excess nutrients such as phosphorus and nitrogen; and waterways were being altered due to dredging and levee construction; among other things.⁵ The spill did not change many of these processes but altered perspectives on how federal and state governments approach restoration.

Prespill Federal Restoration Activities in the Gulf

Prior to the *Deepwater Horizon* oil spill, several federal agencies were involved in a number of efforts to restore and conserve ecosystems in the Gulf Coast region. These efforts ranged from large-scale restoration initiatives in particular ecosystems to grant programs and projects focusing on distinct restoration issues. For example, the Corps is involved with the state of Louisiana in an initiative that aims to restore wetlands and reduce wetland loss in coastal Louisiana. The program, termed the Louisiana Coastal Area Program, is expected to entail the construction of coastal restoration features that involve habitat restoration and dredging, among other things. The **Appendix** to this report outlines the major ongoing federal restoration efforts and initiatives in the Gulf.⁶ Several interagency forums coordinate federal stewardship efforts and collaborative planning for Gulf Coast projects, some in cooperation with state, nonprofit, and local entities.

Over the years, the Gulf Coast region has not been addressed comprehensively as an area for restoration. There has been no overarching restoration initiative addressing the region, possibly because of the size of the region and variability in its ecosystems and governing entities. Further, there has been no central entity or program responsible for planning or implementing restoration activities. Instead, responsibilities have varied by area, timing, and scope, with various combinations of federal, state, local, and nonprofit entities implementing (and in some cases directing) restoration. For instance, Louisiana, Mississippi, and Texas have major ongoing Corps restoration plans focused on specific projects and ecosystems. These are federal/state partnerships and differ in terms of how far projects have progressed. There are no comparable coastal initiatives in Alabama or in the northern part of Florida.⁷ In these areas, states, along with other

⁴ These areas are affected by activities in the Gulf of Mexico Watershed, which extends approximately 1,000 miles upstream and drains 40% of the United States.

⁵ This report provides only a brief background and discussion of preexisting environmental issues in the Gulf Coast. These issues are discussed in more detail in U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, *America's Gulf Coast: A Long Term Recovery Plan after the Deepwater Horizon Oil Spill*, September 2010, pp 24-29, at https://archive.epa.gov/gulfcoasttaskforce/web/pdf/mabusreport.pdf. Hereinafter "Mabus Report."

⁶ This list does not include state or locally based efforts and is not exhaustive.

⁷ There is, however, a comprehensive federal/state restoration plan for the Everglades (located in central and south Florida). For more information, see CRS Report R42007, *Everglades Restoration: Federal Funding and Implementation Progress*, by (name redacted).

entities, have initiated restoration efforts. Further complicating a comprehensive effort to restore the region is the complexity of ecological issues in the region and their connection to ecosystems outside of the region. For example, excess nutrients that cause hypoxia in the Gulf Coast area are attributed in part to agricultural runoff in the northern reaches of the Mississippi River. Addressing restoration in the Gulf Coast cuts across regions and ecosystems, as well as departmental and agency jurisdictions within the federal government.

Efforts at unifying federal agency actions and developing a process for restoring the Gulf Coast region were initiated by the Obama Administration and predated the *Deepwater Horizon* spill. The Obama Administration created a Gulf Coast Ecosystem Restoration Working Group, which was tasked with developing a strategy for restoring the Gulf Coast region.⁸ The strategy is termed the Roadmap for Restoring Ecosystem Resiliency and Sustainability in the Louisiana and Mississippi Coasts. The intent of the roadmap was to guide near-term restoration actions to be undertaken by agencies within the working group, and facilitate the coordination of federal restoration and protection activities. However, the *Deepwater Horizon* spill and resulting damages and financial compensation from litigation altered the federal government's approach to restoration and coordination. Some of the new processes that have developed as a result of the oil spill are discussed below.

Deepwater Horizon Oil Spill: Environmental Impacts

The explosion of the *Deepwater Horizon* offshore drilling rig on April 20, 2010, which took place 41 miles southeast of the Louisiana coast, resulted in an estimated 171 million gallons (4.1 million barrels) of oil discharged into the Gulf of Mexico over 84 days.⁹ An additional 35 million gallons of oil escaped the well, but did not enter the Gulf environment, because BP recovered this oil directly from the wellhead.¹⁰ At the time these calculations were made (July 14, 2010), approximately 50% of the oil had evaporated, dissolved, or been effectively removed from the Gulf environment through human activities. However, a substantial portion—over 100 million gallons—remained, in some form, in the Gulf of Mexico. The fate of the remaining oil in the Gulf is uncertain and might never be determined conclusively. Multiple challenges hinder determination of the fate of the oil, and as time progresses, determining the fate of the oil and related environmental impacts will likely become more difficult. Some study results indicate that microbial organisms (bacteria) consumed and broke down a considerable amount of the oil in the water column.¹¹

The effects from the oil spill were spread throughout the Gulf Coast ecosystem. In the immediate aftermath of the spill, more than 88,522 square miles of coast were closed and almost 1,100 miles

⁸ A summary of these efforts is available at https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/administration/eop/ceq/initiatives/ gulfcoast.

⁹ See the Federal Interagency Solutions Group, Oil Budget Calculator Science and Engineering Team, Oil Budget Calculator: Deepwater Horizon-Technical Documentation, November 2010. See also CRS Report R41531, *Deepwater Horizon Oil Spill: The Fate of the Oil*, by (name redacted)

¹⁰ In February 2013, the federal government agreed with BP that this volume of oil would not be considered toward the CWA penalty determination. See United States District Court, Eastern District of Louisiana, Stipulation Mooting BP's Motion for Partial Summary Judgement, February 19, 2013, at http://www.laed.uscourts.gov/OilSpill/OilSpill.htm.

¹¹ See, e.g., David Valentine et al, "Dynamic autoinoculation and the microbial ecology of a deep water hydrocarbon irruption," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, January 2012; Bethanie Edwards et al., "Rapid Microbial Respiration of Oil from the Deepwater Horizon Spill in Offshore Surface Waters of the Gulf of Mexico," *Environmental Research Letters*, vol. 6, August 2011.

of shoreline and related habitat were damaged due to oiling.¹² A map of some of the documented oiling impacts in the immediate area of the oil spill is shown below in **Figure 1**.¹³



Figure 1. Selected Impacts of the Gulf Coast Oil Spill

Source: National Commission on the BP Deepwater Horizon Oil Spill and Offshore Drilling, Deep Water: The Gulf Oil Disaster and the Future of Offshore Drilling, Report to the President, January 2011.

Several scientists have noted that the long-term effects of the spill are likely to persist into the future.¹⁴ One of the earliest reports on the oil spill, carried out by a presidential task force under the direction of former Secretary of the Navy Ray Mabus,¹⁵ divided the effects of the oil spill into four categories:

¹² Data from CRS communication with National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration Office of Response and Restoration officials, October 3, 2011, and Mabus Report.

 $^{^{13}} A web-based Geographic Information System tool with relevant monitoring and other data layers is available at http://gomex.erma.noaa.gov/erma.html#x=-88.25810&y=27.03211&z=6&layers=19130.$

¹⁴ Mabus Report, p. 2.

¹⁵ See the "Mabus Report" generally. The report is further discussed further in the below section "Federal Restoration in the Gulf since the Deepwater Horizon Oil Spill."

- 1. Water Column Effects: Due to the location and scale of the oil spill, the spill is expected to have impacts on the food chain in coastal areas.
- 2. Fisheries Effects: The oil spill led to the temporary closure of approximately 36% of federal Gulf waters, as well as in-state waters, to fishing. Although these waters have subsequently been reopened, studies on fisheries impacts are ongoing, and impacts from oil on fish eggs and larvae may be better understood over time.
- 3. Effects on Other Species: Animals face both short-term and long-term impacts from the oil spill, including impacts on food availability, growth, reproduction, behavior, and disease.
- 4. Habitat Effects: Beaches, wetlands, and other Gulf Coats habitats were exposed to oil, which could potentially exacerbate erosion issues in the region and kill plants and animals.

Specific long-term effects on the ecosystem are still being studied. Documented effects have been reported by scientists for various aspects of the ecosystem. For example, scientists provided estimates on the effect of the oil plume on deep sea sediment habitat and species around the well head. They reported that the most severe reduction of biodiversity in this habitat extended 3 km around the wellhead, and that moderate impacts were observed up to 17 km southwest and 8.5 km northeast of the wellhead.¹⁶ Further, scientists estimated that recovery rates for this habitat could be in terms of decades or longer.¹⁷ The effects on the seafood industry are also being calculated economically and environmentally for the long term.¹⁸

Federal Restoration in the Gulf since the Deepwater Horizon Oil Spill

After the oil spill, efforts were focused on addressing the immediate impacts of the oil spill and monitoring how the spill was spreading through the ecosystems. Although the Oil Pollution Act (OPA) liability provisions¹⁹ are meant to address natural resource damages related to the oil spill, many policymakers and stakeholders expressed an interest in also addressing prespill natural resource issues in the Gulf. Thus, to some degree, Gulf restoration activities may be divided into short-term efforts that address natural resource impacts related to the 2010 oil spill and long-term recovery efforts that address restoration issues in place well before the 2010 spill.²⁰

Mabus Report and Gulf Coast Ecosystem Restoration Task Force

The impetus for long-term environmental restoration and recovery efforts related to the oil spill can be traced, in part, to a September 2010 report commissioned by the Obama Administration and under the direction of former Secretary of the Navy Ray Mabus (also known as the "Mabus

¹⁶ Paul A. Montagna et al., "Deep-Sea Benthic Footprint of the Deepwater Horizon Blowout," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 8, no. 8 (2013), p. 1.

¹⁷ Ibid.

¹⁸ Michael Caroll et al., "An Analysis of the Impacts of the Deepwater Horizon Oil Spill on the Gulf of Mexico Seafood Industry," *U.S. Department of the Interior, Bureau of Ocean Energy Management*, March 2016.

¹⁹ 33 U.S.C. §2702. This process is discussed in the section, "Natural Resource Damages Under the Oil Pollution Act."

²⁰ However, in some cases it may be difficult to distinguish prespill from postspill ecosystem issues in the Gulf.

Report").²¹ The report outlined existing processes as well as potential new funding sources for Gulf Coast restoration. The final report noted the multiple challenges facing the Gulf Coast and suggested incorporating them into the response to the oil spill:

This is a region that was already struggling with urgent environmental challenges.... [I]t only makes sense to look at the broader challenges facing the system and to leverage ongoing efforts to find solutions to some of the complex problems that face the Gulf. Sustained activities that restore the critical ecosystem functions of the Gulf will be needed to support and sustain the region's economic revitalization.²²

The report made a number of recommendations for future restoration actions to address this challenge. Most importantly, the Mabus Report recommended the dedication of civil penalties under the Clean Water Act toward Gulf restoration to address recovery needs that may fall outside the scope of natural resource damages under the OPA.²³ It further recommended that "Congress establish a Gulf Coast Recovery Council that should focus on improving the economy and public health of the Gulf Coast, and on ecosystem restoration not dealt with under [OPA's Natural Resource Damage Assessment program]. These three areas are inextricably linked to the successful recovery of the region."²⁴

To further the long-term restoration objectives outlined in the Mabus Report, President Obama established the Gulf Coast Ecosystem Restoration Task Force in October 2010.²⁵ The task force held meetings, met with public officials, and produced a restoration strategy in December 2011, which was expected to guide future restoration efforts in the region.²⁶ The task force strategy defined ecosystem restoration goals and described milestones toward reaching those goals; considered existing research and ecosystem restoration planning efforts; identified major policy areas where coordinated actions between government agencies were needed; and evaluated existing research and monitoring programs and gaps in data collection. The task force goals for Gulf Coast restoration were

- restore and conserve habitat;
- restore water quality;
- replenish and protect living coastal and marine resources; and
- enhance community resilience.

Enactment of the RESTORE Act in P.L. 112-141 (discussed below) in July 2012 resulted in the creation of the Gulf Coast Ecosystem Restoration Council and led to President Obama disbanding the task force.²⁷

²¹See footnote 5.

²² Mabus Report, p. 23.

²³ Mabus Report, p. 5.

²⁴ Mabus Report, p. 5.

²⁵ Executive Order 13554 in 75 Federal Register 62313 (October 8, 2010).

²⁶ See http://epa.gov/gulfcoasttaskforce/pdfs/GulfCoastReport_Full_12-04_508-1.pdf.

²⁷ See Executive Order 13626 in 77 *Federal Register* 56749 (September 13, 2012). The council, discussed in the below section "30%—Gulf Coast Ecosystem Restoration Council," is composed of the Governors of the five affected Gulf States and the Secretaries of the Departments of Interior, Commerce, Agriculture, and Homeland Security, the Secretary of the Army, and the Administrator of the Environmental Protection Agency.

Environmental and Economic Restoration Efforts and Funding

Since the oil spill, congressional legislation, civil and criminal settlements relating to oil spill damages, and existing federal programs have initiated a number of actions intended to restore the ecosystems and economies in the Gulf Coast region. Many of these actions are related, but have different planning processes and time lines, leadership, and goals. The below sections focus on the three most significant efforts aimed at environmentally and economically restoring the Gulf Coast region:

- RESTORE Act funding/Gulf Coast Ecosystem Restoration Trust Fund;
- National Fish and Wildlife Foundation (NFWF) Gulf Coast Restoration Funding; and
- Natural Resource Damages (NRD) under the Oil Pollution Act.

It is expected that in total, more than \$18.3 billion will go to these three efforts pursuant to civil and criminal settlements with responsible parties.²⁸ A summary of civil and criminal settlements to date and their required funding allocations is provided in the **Appendix** to this report. Although economic claims and other payments to individuals damaged by the spill may in some cases be used contribute to or complement the activities discussed below, they are not included in this discussion.²⁹

In addition to these efforts, funding for Gulf Coast restoration activities also is being made available under a number of smaller settlements and through ongoing federal agency activities (as discussed above). Some of these efforts are referenced in **Table A-2**, below.

RESTORE Act/Gulf Coast Ecosystem Restoration Trust Fund

The RESTORE Act is a subtitle in legislation (MAP-21; P.L. 112-141) enacted on July 6, 2012.³⁰ The RESTORE Act establishes the Gulf Coast Restoration Trust Fund in the General Treasury. Eighty percent of any administrative and civil Clean Water Act (CWA) Section 311³¹ penalties paid by responsible parties in connection with the 2010 *Deepwater Horizon* oil spill are deposited in the fund.³² Amounts in the trust fund will be available for expenditure without further appropriation. The act directs the Secretary of the Treasury to promulgate implementing regulations concerning trust fund deposits and expenditures.³³ Pursuant to CWA civil settlements, it is expected that approximately \$5.5 billion in CWA penalties will be available through the trust fund through FY2031.

²⁸ This does not include funding from other agreements made available directly to state and local governments.

²⁹ For a complete discussion of these claims, see CRS Report R42942, *Deepwater Horizon Oil Spill: Recent Activities and Ongoing Developments*, by (name redacted)

³⁰ The RESTORE Act is Division A, Title I, Subtitle F of MAP-21 (P.L. 112-141). As discussed below, the effective date of the RESTORE Act provisions, unless otherwise provided, is October 1, 2012.

³¹ 33 U.S.C. §1321.

³² If not for the RESTORE Act, revenues from these penalties would support the Oil Spill Liability Trust Fund (OSLTF)—pursuant to 26 U.S.C. §9509.

³³ 31 C.F.R. §34.

Fund Administration

The RESTORE Act gives the Secretary of the Treasury authority to determine how much money from the Gulf Coast Restoration Trust Fund should be expended each fiscal year, and regulations from the Treasury Department have since confirmed this approach. In accordance with the RESTORE Act and Treasury regulations, for each fiscal year the Secretary of the Treasury is to release funds from the trust fund toward the required components (discussed below), and invest the remainder "that are not, in the judgment of the Secretary, required to meet needs for current withdrawals."³⁴ These investments are to be in interest-bearing obligations of the United States with maturities suitable to the needs of the trust fund. The Secretary also has authority to audit and stop expending funds to particular entities (e.g., states), if the Secretary determines funds are not being used for prescribed activities. The authority of the trust fund terminates when all funds owed to the trust fund have been provided and all funds from the trust fund have been expended.

Funding Distribution and Authorized Uses

The RESTORE Act distributes monies from the Gulf Coast Restoration Fund to various entities through multiple processes, or "components." All of the funds-not counting authorized administrative activities-would support activities in one or more of the five Gulf of Mexico states. The different fund allotments and their conditions are discussed below and illustrated in Figure 2. The largest component is the "Direct Component," under which 35% of Gulf Coast Restoration Trust Fund monies (an estimated \$1.86 billion based on the settlements with BP, Transocean, and Anadarko) will be distributed directly by Treasury equally to the five states. Other major components include the Council-Selected Restoration Component (also referred to as the Comprehensive Plan Component), under which the council is to receive 30% for an ecosystem restoration plan (an estimated \$1.86 billion, to be supplemented by interest generated by the trust fund), and the Spill Impact Component, under which the council will receive an additional 30% but will distribute this amount to states unequally (estimated at \$1.6 billion total). Two other smaller allocations go toward science and research grants (2.5%, or \$133.3 million, respectively). Each of these components is discussed in detail below. Pursuant to the Treasury regulations, no more than 3% of the amount received by the council and other political subdivisions (e.g., states, counties) for any of these components may be used for administrative expenses.

^{34 31} C.F.R. §34.101.



Figure 2. RESTORE Act Distribution of Clean Water Act (CWA) Penalties

Source: Gulf Coast Ecosystem Restoration Council, *Comprehensive Plan Update 2016*, December 8, 2016. **Notes:** Reflects CWA penalties from BP, Transocean, and Anardarko settlements. * indicates that amounts are supplemented by interest generated from the Gulf Coast Restoration Trust Fund.

35%—Direct Component: Equal Shares to the Five Gulf States

The largest portion of the fund (35%, other than interest earned on investments) is to be divided equally among the five Gulf of Mexico states: Alabama, Florida, Louisiana, Mississippi, and Texas. The Treasury will provide this funding as grants to these states in a given fiscal year. The act has further requirements for specific distributions to political subdivisions in Florida and Louisiana. In Florida, the shares are to be divided among affected counties, with 75% of that state's share to be distributed to the eight "disproportionately affected" counties while the remaining 25% will go to "non-disproportionately impacted" counties. In Louisiana, 30% of its share goes to individual parishes based on a statutory formula, and the remainder goes to the state Coastal Protection and Restoration Authority Board. For other states, all of the funding will be distributed to similar state authorities or offices.³⁵

The act stipulates that the state (or county) funding must be applied toward one or more of the following 11 activities:³⁶

- 1. Restoration and protection of the natural resources, ecosystems, fisheries, marine and wildlife habitats, beaches, and coastal wetlands of the Gulf Coast region.
- 2. Mitigation of damage to fish, wildlife, and natural resources.

³⁵ This includes, for Alabama, the Alabama Gulf Coast Recovery Council; for Mississippi, the Mississippi Department of Environmental Quality; and for Texas, the Office of the Governor.

³⁶ 33 U.S.C. §1321(t)(1)(B)

- 3. Implementation of a federally approved marine, coastal, or comprehensive conservation management plan, including fisheries monitoring.
- 4. Workforce development and job creation.
- 5. Improvements to or on state parks located in coastal areas affected by the *Deepwater Horizon* oil spill.
- 6. Infrastructure projects benefitting the economy or ecological resources, including port infrastructure.
- 7. Coastal flood protection and related infrastructure.
- 8. Planning assistance.
- 9. Administrative costs (limited to not more than 3% of a state's allotment).
- 10. Promotion of tourism in the Gulf Coast Region, including recreational fishing.
- 11. Promotion of the consumption of seafood harvested from the Gulf Coast Region.

Subsequently, the Treasury regulations for the program outlined a similar set of activities but noted that the first six activities above are eligible only to the extent that they are carried out in the Gulf Coast region.³⁷ To receive its share of funds (which are to be distributed as a grant), a state must meet several conditions, including a certification (as determined by the Secretary of the Treasury) that, among other things, funds are applied to one of the above activities and that activities are selected through public input. In addition, states must submit a multi-year implementation plan, documenting activities for which they receive funding.

The RESTORE Act further stipulates that each state must agree to meet conditions for receiving funds that are promulgated by the Secretary of the Treasury, and certify that requested projects meet certain conditions.³⁸ These conditions include that projects (1) are designed to restore and protect natural resources of the Gulf Coast environment or economy; (2) carry out one or more of the 11 activities described above; (3) were selected with public input; and (4) are based on the best available science. Under the RESTORE Act, the states are required to develop and submit a multiyear implementation plan for the use of received funds, which may include milestones, projected completion of the project, and mechanisms to evaluate progress.³⁹ States also can use funds to satisfy requirements for the nonfederal cost share of authorized federal projects.⁴⁰

30%—Gulf Coast Ecosystem Restoration Council Comprehensive Plan

The RESTORE Act authorizes the creation of a new council to govern the majority of ecosystem restoration efforts under the bill. The council is named the Gulf Coast Ecosystem Restoration Council and contains representatives from high-level officials from six federal agencies and the governor (or his/her designee) from each of the five Gulf Coast states. The act provides for the distribution of 30% of all revenues of the Gulf Coast Restoration Trust Fund, plus one-half of the interest earned on investments, to the council to fund a comprehensive ecosystem restoration plan (termed the *Comprehensive Plan*). In addition to allocating this funding toward restoration, the council also is responsible for allocating 30% of the trust fund to Gulf States under a formula established in the RESTORE Act (see "30%—Spill Impact Component: Unequal Shares to the

³⁷ The Treasury Regulations define "Gulf Coast Region" as coastal zones defined under Section 304 of the Coastal Zone Management Act of 1972 (P.L. 92-583) that border the Gulf of Mexico; land within the coastal zones held in trust by the federal government; adjacent land, water, and watersheds within 25 miles of the coastal zone; and all federal waters in the Gulf of Mexico.

³⁸ 33 U.S.C. §1321(t)(1)(E).

³⁹ 33 U.S.C. §1321(t)(1)(E)(iv).

⁴⁰ 33 U.S.C. §1321(t)(1)(J).

Five Gulf States," below, for details). The council is authorized to conduct several actions, including developing and revising the Comprehensive Plan; identifying and conceiving projects prior to enactment that could restore the ecosystem quickly; establishing advisory committees; collecting and considering scientific research; and submitting reports to Congress.

The council published its draft Initial Comprehensive Plan in August 2013, and initial projects to be included in the plan were solicited in August 2014. After a series of public meetings, on August 23, 2016, the council released a draft Comprehensive Plan Update, which included project level selections.⁴¹ The plan set in motion a series of subsequent public meetings and a formal comment period to update the Initial Comprehensive Plan to account for funding updates and public input. The plan was finalized by the council on December 16, 2016.⁴²

The Comprehensive Plan establishes five broad restoration goals and details how the council will select and fund projects. Project selection criteria and evaluation reflects provisions under the RESTORE Act. The Comprehensive Plan is to address restoration under two components: the Restoration Component and the Spill Impact Component. Each component reflects conditions and criteria established under the RESTORE Act for funding. The Comprehensive Plan notes that selected projects under the Restoration Component might not be balanced according to the restoration goals.⁴³ For example, projects that aim to restore, improve, and protect water quality (one of the goals) might outnumber projects that aim to restore and enhance natural processes and shorelines (another goal). Further, according to the Comprehensive Plan and the RESTORE Act, the responsibility for implementing a project under the plan is to be given to either a state or a federal agency. Therefore, the council may not be considered an implementing entity but rather should be considered a managing and oversight entity for restoration.⁴⁴

The Comprehensive Plan 2016 Update includes a description of how funds from the trust fund will be allocated to implement the plan from 2017 to 2026.⁴⁵ This element is referred to in the plan as the "10-Year Funding Strategy" and was required under the RESTORE Act.⁴⁶ Further, the plan contains an initial project and program priority list that the council would be expected to fund over the next three years, as required under the RESTORE Act.⁴⁷ This list is referred to as the "Funded Priorities List" and also was required under the RESTORE Act.⁴⁸ Regulations by the Department of the Treasury have clarified that eligible activities for the Comprehensive Plan include activities in the Gulf Coast Region that would restore and protect the natural resources, ecosystems, fisheries, marine and wildlife habitats, beaches, coastal wetlands, and economy of the region.

⁴¹ The Comprehensive Plan Update is available at https://www.restorethegulf.gov/sites/default/files/CO-PL_20161208_CompPlanUpdate_English.pdf. This version of the plan was finalized on December 16, 2016. Hereinafter, *Comprehensive Plan Update*.

⁴² Minutes of the December 16, 2016, meeting, including outside comments, are available at https://www.restorethegulf.gov/outreach/public-input.

⁴³ Comprehensive Plan Update, p. 11.

⁴⁴ This is similar to other restoration initiatives such as in the Great Lakes, where funds are disseminated to agencies or other stakeholders based on proposed projects and activities.

⁴⁵ Comprehensive Plan Update, p. 18

⁴⁶ 33 U.S.C. §1321(t)(2)(D)(ii)(IV)(cc).

⁴⁷ A final Funded Priorities list (FPL) and time line of amendments, including project descriptions, is available at https://www.restorethegulf.gov/council-selected-restoration-component/funded-priorities-list.

⁴⁸ 33 U.S.C. §1321(t)(2)(D)(ii)(IV)(dd).

30%-Spill Impact Component: Unequal Shares to the Five Gulf States

The act directs the council to disburse 30% of Gulf Coast Restoration Trust Fund monies to the five Gulf States based on the relative impact of the oil spill in each state. The council is to develop a distribution formula based on criteria listed in the act. In general, the criteria involve a measure of shoreline impact; oiled-shoreline distance from the *Deepwater Horizon* rig; and coastal population.⁴⁹ On September 29, 2015, the council published a draft Spill Impact Component regulation in the *Federal Register*. The final rule was published in the *Federal Register* on December 15, 2015, and became effective April 4, 2016, with approval from the federal court in Louisiana.⁵⁰ Based on the formula and information determined in the final rule, the allocation of Spill Impact Component funds to each state is as follows:

- Alabama—20.40%;
- Florida—18.36%;
- Louisiana—34.59%;
- Mississippi—19.07%; and
- Texas—7.58%.⁵¹

To receive funding, each state must submit a plan for approval to the council. State plans must document how funding will support one or more of the 11 categories listed in the "35%—Direct Component: Equal Shares to the Five Gulf States" section, above. Information and criteria for developing the state plans are included in the Comprehensive Plan Update.⁵² However, in contrast to the Direct Component, only 25% of a state's funding can be used to support infrastructure projects, which are those projects in categories six (infrastructure projects benefitting the economy or ecological resources, including port infrastructure) and seven (coastal flood protection and related infrastructure).⁵³

2.5%—Gulf Coast Ecosystem Restoration Science, Observation, Monitoring, and Technology (GCERSOMT) Program

The act establishes the Gulf Coast Ecosystem Restoration Science, Observation, Monitoring, and Technology (GCERSOMT) program, funded by 2.5% of monies in the Gulf Coast Restoration Trust Fund. The NOAA administrator will implement the program, which is to support marine research projects that pertain to species in the Gulf of Mexico. Further, the program is to conduct monitoring and research on marine and estuarine ecosystems and collect data and stock assessments on fisheries and other marine and estuarine variables. There is an emphasis on coordination with other entities to conduct this work and provisions that instruct the administrator to avoid duplication of efforts. This program is to sunset when all funds in the trust fund are expended.

⁴⁹ See 33 U.S.C. §1321(t)(3)(A)(ii).

⁵⁰ Gulf Coast Ecosystem Restoration Council, "RESTORE Act Spill Impact Component Allocation," 80 *Federal Register* 77580, December 15, 2015, at https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2015/12/15/2015-31433/restore-act-spill-impact-component-allocation.

⁵¹ 40 C.F.R. §1800.500.

⁵² Grants awarded under the Spill Impact Component can be found at https://www.restorethegulf.gov/grants_awarded_spill-impact-component.

⁵³ The act allows states to spend more than 25% of their funding on infrastructure if the state certifies the projects will meet particular conditions.

2.5%—Centers of Excellence

The act disburses 2.5% of monies in the Gulf Coast Restoration Trust Fund to the five Gulf States to establish—through a competitive grant program—centers of excellence. The centers would be nongovernmental entities (including public or private institutions) and consortia in the Gulf Coast Region. Centers of excellence are to focus on science, technology, and monitoring in at least one of the following areas: coastal and deltaic sustainability and restoration and protection; coastal fisheries and wildlife ecosystem research and monitoring in the Gulf Coast region; sustainable and economic growth and commercial development in the region; and mapping and monitoring of the Gulf of Mexico water body.

Interest Earned by the Fund

Interest earned by the Gulf Coast Restoration Trust Fund would be distributed as follows:

- 50% would fund the Gulf Coast Ecosystem Restoration Council to implement the Comprehensive Plan.
- 25% would provide additional funding for the Gulf Coast Ecosystem Restoration Science, Observation, Monitoring, and Technology program mentioned above.
- 25% would provide additional funding for the centers of excellence research grants mentioned above.

Funding Levels

Amounts of approximately \$816 million and \$128 million have been deposited in the Gulf Coast Restoration Trust Fund pursuant to 2013 and 2015 settlements with Transocean and Anadarko Petroleum Company.⁵⁴ The April 2016 settlement with BP stated that BP would pay \$5.5 billion to resolve CWA claims, 80% (\$4.4 billion) of which is to be distributed to the trust fund according to the RESTORE Act. Together with the Transocean and Anadarko settlements, total funding would be \$5.3 billion.

Status

As of spring 2017, the RESTORE Act components had distributed the following amounts:55

- Under the Direct Component, the Treasury Department has awarded approximately \$26.7 million in funds to eligible entities. It also has allocated more than \$200 million in "Multiyear Implementation Plans" under the Direct Component, a process required by the RESTORE Act and the Treasury final rule for eligible state, county, and parish applicants to prioritize activities for funds and to obtain public participation as part of preparing their multiyear plans.
- Under the Comprehensive Plan Component, the council has approved approximately \$156.6 million in initial Funded Priorities List (FPL) projects.

⁵⁴ In addition to BP, Transocean also was judged to be a responsible party for the spill and thus has agreed to pay damages pursuant to a separate court settlement. A table of settlements as of the date of this report is provided in the **Appendix**.

⁵⁵ For most recent allocations, see https://www.treasury.gov/services/restore-act/Pages/home.aspx.

During 2016, 10 initial FPL projects totaling \$34.68 million completed the application phase and were awarded funding.⁵⁶

- Approximately \$6 million in grants have been awarded for planning activities related to the Spill Impact Component. Spill Impact Component funds are to be invested in projects, programs, and activities identified in approved State Expenditure Plans (SEPs).⁵⁷ Based on the formula established by the council, each state will develop one or more SEPs describing how it will use the allocated amount.⁵⁸
- The NOAA RESTORE Act Science Program completed its first round of funding in September 2015, awarding approximately \$2.7 million to seven research teams. The next funding round is expected to make awards later in 2017, with \$17 million available for research projects.
- The Centers of Excellence Research Grants Program had awarded \$16.816 million in grant program awards to eligible applicants as of April 2017.

As noted above, the Gulf Coast Ecosystem Restoration Council voted to approve the Comprehensive Plan Update on December 16, 2016. The plan established overarching goals based on the aforementioned Mabus Report,⁵⁹ and it noted broad evaluation and selection criteria on which it plans to base its decisions. In accordance with the RESTORE Act, the plan includes project selections under the FPL as well as the 10-Year Funding Strategy.⁶⁰ The Comprehensive Plan Update anticipated developing future FPLs approximately every three years.⁶¹

National Fish and Wildlife Foundation Funding

Pursuant to the criminal settlements between BP and the Department of Justice (DOJ) and between Transocean and DOJ in early 2013, National Fish and Wildlife Foundation (NFWF) was scheduled to receive more than \$2.5 billion for Gulf Coast restoration over the five-year period from 2013 to 2017.⁶² NFWF was established by Congress in 1984. It is an independent 501(c)(3) nonprofit organization governed by a 30-member board of directors.⁶³ The NFWF board is approved by the Secretary of the Interior and includes the Director of the Fish and Wildlife Service. In the past, it typically received limited federal funds, which it used to leverage grants

⁵⁶ Gulf Coast Ecosystem Restoration Council 2016 Annual Report to Congress, p. 10. Hereinafter, *Council 2016 Report to Congress*. The report can be found at https://www.restorethegulf.gov/sites/default/files/ AnnRep_FY16AnnualReporttoCongress_20170209.pdf.

⁵⁷ Council 2016 Report to Congress, p.20.

⁵⁸ On March 17, 2016, the council updated the SEP Guidelines to further describe the required elements of an SEP, the process for submitting an SEP, and the standards by which the council chair will evaluate the SEP. The Guidelines also describe the requirements for a Planning SEP authorized by the RESTORE Act Spill Impact Component Planning Allocation Final Rule (80 FR 1584). (https://www.restorethegulf.gov/sites/default/files/SEP-Guidelines_Approved-20160317.pdf).

⁵⁹ The five goals established by the plan were: restore and conserve habitat; restore water quality; replenish and protect living coastal and marine resources; enhance community resilience, and restore and revitalize the Gulf economy.

⁶⁰ The 10-Year Funding Strategy is comprised of a vision statement, a discussion of the frequency of future FPLs, and enhancements to the council's commitments from the Initial Plan. It was composed with the notion that future FPLs will include significantly larger projects.

⁶¹ Comprehensive Plan Update 2016, p.19.

⁶² The Transocean monies are scheduled to be disbursed over a two-year period, and the BP monies are scheduled to come in over a five-year period.

⁶³ For more information about this organization, see http://www.nfwf.org.

for conservation purposes. NFWF also administers mitigation funds targeted to specific sites or projects, including roughly 160 different funds nationally as of June 2013.⁶⁴

For purposes of the *Deepwater Horizon* oil spill recovery settlements, both criminal settlements direct NFWF to use the funds in the following manner:

- 50% (approximately \$1.3 billion) of the funding is to support the creation or restoration of barrier islands off the coast of Louisiana and implementation of river diversion projects to create, preserve, or restore coastal habitats. These projects will "remedy harm to resources where there has been injury to, or destruction of, loss of, or loss of use of those resources resulting from the [*Deepwater Horizon*] oil spill."
- 50% of the funding is to support projects that "remedy harm to resources where there has been injury to, or destruction of, loss of, or loss of use of those resources resulting from the [*Deepwater Horizon*] oil spill." NFWF will support such projects in the Gulf states based on the following proportions: Alabama, 28% (\$356 million); Florida, 28% (\$356 million); Mississippi, 28% (\$356 million); and Texas, 16% (\$203 million).

Of these funds, the vast majority are expected to be made available to NFWF in the fourth and fifth years (2017 and 2018). The payment schedule and allocations to individual states are shown below in **Table 1**. For both the BP and Transocean settlement allocations, NFWF is directed to consult with "appropriate state resource managers, as well as federal resource managers that have the statutory authority for coordination or cooperation with private entities, to identify projects and to maximize the environmental benefits of such projects." For the Louisiana projects, NFWF is directed to consider the State Coastal Master Plan, as well as the Louisiana Coastal Area Mississippi River Hydrodynamic and Delta Management Study, as appropriate.⁶⁵

Date	Louisiana	Alabama	Florida	Mississippi	Texas	Total Payment
Apr 2013	\$79.00	\$22.12	\$22.12	\$22.12	\$12.64	\$158.00
Feb 2014	176.50	49.42	49.42	49.42	28.24	353.00
Feb 2015	169.50	47.46	47.46	47.46	27.12	339.00
Feb 2016	150.00	42.00	42.00	42.00	24.00	300.00
Feb 2017	250.00	70.00	70.00	70.00	40.00	500.00
Feb 2018	474.00	125.16	125.16	125.16	71.52	894.00
Totals	\$1,272.00	\$356.16	\$356.16	\$356.16	\$203.52	\$2,544.00

Table I. Schedule of Payments to NFWF Gulf Environmental Benefit Fund (payments from BP and Transocean settlements in millions of dollars)

Source: National Fish and Wildlife Foundation, *Gulf Environmental Benefit Fund Timetable*, at http://www.nfwf.org/gulf/Pages/GEBF-Timetable.aspx.

⁶⁴ Statement of Jeff Trandahl, Executive Director, National Fish and Wildlife Foundation. U.S. Congress, Senate Committee on Commerce, Science, and Transportation, *Gulf Restoration: A Progress Report 3 Years After the Deepwater Horizon Disaster*, 113th Cong., 1st sess., June 6, 2013. Hereinafter, *Trandahl Statement*, 2013.

⁶⁵ More information is available from NFWF at http://www.nfwf.org/gulf/Pages/home.aspx.

Status

NFWF established the Gulf Environmental Benefit Fund (Gulf Fund) to receive funding to carry out Gulf Coast restoration efforts under the settlement. NFWF also reported that it is consulting with state and federal natural resource management agencies involved in other Gulf Coast restoration efforts (e.g., RESTORE and Natural Resource Damage processes). The first projects under the Gulf Fund were announced in November 2013. As of July 2017, NFWF reported that it had funded 101 Gulf Coast restoration projects worth approximately \$880 million.⁶⁶

Natural Resource Damages Under the Oil Pollution Act

The Oil Pollution Act of 1990 (OPA; P.L. 101-380), which became law after the *Exxon Valdez* oil spill of 1989, allows state, federal, and tribal governments to act as "trustees" to recover damages to natural resources in the public trust from the parties responsible for an oil spill. Under the OPA, responsible parties are liable for damages to natural resources, the measure of which includes the following:

- cost of restoring, rehabilitating, replacing, or acquiring the equivalent of the damaged natural resources;
- diminution in value of those natural resources pending restoration; and
- reasonable cost of assessing those damages.⁶⁷

NOAA developed regulations pertaining to the process for natural resource damage assessment under the OPA in 1996.⁶⁸ Natural resource damages may include both losses of direct use and passive uses. Direct-use value may derive from recreational (e.g., boating), commercial (e.g., fishing), or cultural or historical uses of the resource. In contrast, a passive-use value may derive from preserving the resource for its own sake or for enjoyment by future generations.⁶⁹

The damages are compensatory, not punitive. Collected damages cannot be placed into the General Treasury revenues of the federal or state government but must be used to restore or replace lost resources.⁷⁰ Indeed, NOAA's regulations focus on the costs of primary restoration—returning the resource to its baseline condition—and compensatory restoration—addressing interim losses of resources and their services.⁷¹

The Deepwater Horizon NRDA Trustees are

- the United States Department of the Interior;
- NOAA, on behalf of the United States Department of Commerce;
- the state of Louisiana's Coastal Protection and Restoration Authority, Oil Spill Coordinator's Office, Department of Environmental Quality, Department of Wildlife and Fisheries, and Department of Natural Resources;
- the state of Mississippi's Department of Environmental Quality;

 ⁶⁶ See http://www.nfwf.org/gulf/Pages/gulf-projects.aspx#.U9EPJrEUII0. Accessed July 3, 2017.
 ⁶⁷ 33 U.S.C. §2706(d).

⁶⁸ 61 Federal Register 440 (January 5, 1996). See also NOAA, Injury Assessment Guidance Document for Natural Resource Damage Assessment Under the Oil Pollution Act of 1990 (1996).

⁶⁹ See 15 C.F.R. §990.30, definition of "value."

⁷⁰ 33 U.S.C. §2706(f).

⁷¹ See William D. Brighton, *Natural Resource Damages under the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act*, U.S. Department of Justice, Environment and Natural Resources Division, 2006.

- the state of Alabama's Department of Conservation and Natural Resources and Geological Survey of Alabama;
- the state of Florida's Department of Environmental Protection and Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission; and
- for the state of Texas, Texas Parks and Wildlife Department, Texas General Land Office, and Texas Commission on Environmental Quality.

NRDA Process

When a spill occurs, natural resource trustees conduct a natural resource damage assessment to determine the extent of the harm. Trustees may include officials from federal agencies designated by the President, state agencies designated by the relevant governor, and representatives from tribal and foreign governments.

The trustees' work occurs in three steps: the preassessment phase, the restoration planning phase, and the restoration implementation phase. As of 2017, the *Deepwater Horizon* NRDA process is in the restoration implementation phase. During this phase, the trustees develop project-specific restoration plans and implement the projects in compliance with federal and state environmental laws.⁷² This process can take years, especially for complex incidents such as the *Deepwater Horizon* spill. However, during the NRDA process, early restoration projects can be completed to begin restoration of natural resources sooner than might otherwise be possible. This has been the case during the *Deepwater Horizon* NRDA process (see next section).

Status

The NRDA evaluation process is ongoing; however, as noted above, early restoration projects may be initiated in the meantime to allow for expedited restoration activities. On April 21, 2011, the trustees for the *Deepwater Horizon* oil spill announced an agreement with BP to provide \$1 billion toward early restoration projects in the Gulf of Mexico to address injuries to natural resources caused by the spill. The agreement, known as the Framework for Early Restoration Addressing Injuries Resulting from the Deepwater Horizon Oil Spill (or the Framework Agreement), provided the basis for subsequent early restoration actions.⁷³ Under the Framework Agreement, a proposed early restoration project may be funded only if all of the trustees, DOJ, and BP agree on, among other things, the amount of funding to be provided by BP and the Natural Resources Damages Offsets (or NRD Offsets) that will be credited for that project against BP's liability for damages resulting from the spill. Following announcement of the Framework Agreement in 2011, the NRDA trustees solicited projects from the public.

Dissemination of early restoration funds has been divided into five phases as of July 2017. The first two phases of early restoration, announced in 2012, were completed and resulted in 10 projects at an estimated cost of approximately \$71 million.⁷⁴ On May 6, 2013, the trustees issued a notice in the *Federal Register* that included additional projects under a proposed Phase III.⁷⁵ The plan for these projects, finalized in June 2014, proposed funding an additional 44 early

⁷² For more updated information, see NOAA's website at http://www.gulfspillrestoration.noaa.gov/.

⁷³ Department of the Interior et al., *Deepwater Horizon Oil Spill Draft Programmatic and Phase III Early Restoration Plan and Draft Restoration Programmatic Environmental Impact Statement*, Washington, DC, December 2013, at http://www.gulfspillrestoration.noaa.gov/restoration/early-restoration/phase-iii/.

⁷⁴ See archived information for Phases I-V at http://www.gulfspillrestoration.noaa.gov/planning-archives.

⁷⁵ 78 Federal Register 26319, May 6, 2013.

restoration projects at a cost of approximately \$627 million.⁷⁶ On May 20, 2015, the trustees published a draft Phase IV plan proposing 10 early restoration projects with an estimated cost of \$134 million.⁷⁷ For Phase V, the trustees have selected the first phase of the Florida Coastal Access Project, which intends to enhance public access and recreational opportunities in the Florida Panhandle. The first part of that project, as described in the draft Phase V plan, estimates a cost of approximately \$34.4 million, with a second phase of the project to be included in a future restoration plan. Thus, as of July 2017, the total funding allocated or spent on early restoration projects was \$866 million for 65 projects.

The funding for the early restoration projects will be credited against BP's liability for natural resource damages resulting from the spill. Further, in early 2016, NOAA released a final damage assessment and restoration plan, which plans to fund a total of \$8.8 billion in natural resource damages (i.e., early restoration projects) that were approved under the 2016 settlement with BP.⁷⁸

Other Settlement Funding for Gulf Coast Restoration

In addition to the major restoration processes and funding mechanisms, civil and criminal pleas also have provided funding to other programs. This funding is generally of lesser magnitude than the RESTORE Act funding, the NFWF funding, and the NRDA funding, but it is expected to inform and complement this funding. To date, these funding allocations include

- \$500 million to the National Academy of Sciences from the Transocean and BP criminal plea agreements, to be used for research on human health and environmental protection in the Gulf Region. It is also to be used for research on oil spill prevention and spill response strategies in the Gulf.
- \$100 million to the North American Wetlands Conservation Fund from the BP criminal plea agreement for wetlands restoration, conservation, and projects benefiting migratory birds.

Potential Issues and Questions for Congress

Many of the ongoing Gulf Coast restoration efforts discussed above have yet to be finalized, and the planning processes and funds available for deposit into the Gulf Coast Restoration Trust Fund have yet to be fully determined. Further, project priority lists, state implementation plans, and other required restoration planning documents are still being developed. Nevertheless, a number

⁷⁶ U.S. Department of the Interior, Deepwater Horizon Oil Spill: Programmatic and Phase 3 Early Restoration Plan and Early Restoration Programmatic Environmental Impact Statement, June 2014, at

http://www.gulfspillrestoration.noaa.gov/wp-content/uploads/ERP-PEIS-Part-1-Cover-through-Chapter-3_Corrected.pdf. For Phase III, projects were divided into 12 categories: (1) Create and Improve Wetlands; (2) Protect Shorelines and Reduce Erosion; (3) Restore Barrier Islands and Beaches; (4) Restore and Protect Submerged Aquatic Vegetation; (5) Conserve Habitat; (6) Restore Oysters; (7) Restore and Protect Finfish and Shellfish; (8) Restore and Protect Birds; (9) Restore and Protect Sea Turtles; (10) Enhance Public Access to Natural Resources for Recreational Use; (11) Enhance Recreational Experiences; (12) Promote Environmental and Cultural Stewardship, Education and Outreach.

⁷⁷ The Draft Phase IV Early Restoration Plan and Environmental Assessments (ERP/EA) is tiered from the programmatic portions of the Phase III Programmatic Early Restoration Plan and Programmatic Environmental Impact Statement (40 C.F.R. 1508.28). Tiering project-specific analysis is intended to focus project analyses on project-specific issues and incorporate by reference the issues evaluated in the broader Phase III programmatic analysis.

⁷⁸ National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, Deepwater Horizon Oil Spill Final Programmatic Damage Assessment and Restoration Plan and Final Programmatic Environmental Impact Statement, February 2016, at http://www.gulfspillrestoration.noaa.gov/sites/default/files/wp-content/uploads/Front-Matter-and-Chapter-1_Introduction-and-Executive-Summary_508.pdf.

of issues may be of interest to Congress in its oversight role related to Gulf Coast restoration. Some of these issues include the coordination of restoration activities among implementing entities; the development and implementation of a comprehensive plan for restoration; governance of restoration activities; and the balancing of the dual goals of ecological restoration and economic development in the Gulf Coast region.

Coordination

The coordination of restoration efforts among the multiple implementing entities in the Gulf Coast region is one likely area of congressional interest. As discussed above, several disparate streams of funding and resources are going toward new and existing restoration activities in the Gulf. These restoration activities are to be planned and implemented according to multiple planning documents and processes. For example, efforts conducted by NFWF will be done under its planning process after consultation with state and federal entities, while the council will be conducting its own coordination with state and federal agencies and governments for disbursing funds from the Gulf Coast Restoration Trust Fund pursuant to the RESTORE Act. Although the primary entities have highlighted coordination of their efforts, there is no formal entity that oversees all ongoing restoration in the Gulf nor is there a formal coordination process required among the implementing entities. This lack of formal requirements may cause concerns among some related to the potential duplication of projects, implementation of restoration projects that address the same issue yet promote different solutions, or projects with conflicting goals at local and regional levels. However, others may argue that formal coordination has not been necessary, as the informal coordination among the multiple restoration entities has thus far been effective.

The 2016 Comprehensive Plan Update under the RESTORE Act acknowledges some of these potential shortfalls and discusses the council's intention to coordinate among implementing entities. For example, the Comprehensive Plan states that the council will strive to coordinate with other partners involved in restoration activities to "maximize ecological and socio-economic benefits and avoid duplication."⁷⁹ The RESTORE Act itself also includes some requirements related to coordination, although it does not provide for a congressionally authorized coordinating entity with authority over all relevant processes going forward.⁸⁰ The act authorizes memoranda of understanding between the council and federal agencies to establish integrated funding and implementation plans, which could reduce project duplication and promote an integrated restoration effort among federal entities.⁸¹ It also addresses duplication of efforts in relation to monitoring the Gulf Coast ecosystem. The RESTORE Act requires the Gulf Coast Science Program to avoid duplication of other research and monitoring activities and requires the NOAA administrator to develop a plan for the coordination of projects and activities between the program and other similar state and federal programs and centers of excellence.⁸²

Broader questions of coordination among restoration activities go beyond the RESTORE Act and may include, in addition to NRDA and NFWF activities, existing federal and state projects and activities, as well as activities conducted in other states that might have an effect in the Gulf Coast region. Some potential questions addressing coordination include the following:

⁷⁹ Comprehensive Plan Update, p. 24.

⁸⁰ The act directed coordination between the council and the task force when developing the Comprehensive Plan, but the task force has since been discontinued.

^{81 33} U.S.C. §1321(t)(2)(F).

^{82 33} U.S.C. §1321 note.

- How are restoration plans and projects coordinated among implementing entities? Is there a need for a congressionally authorized mechanism for coordination?
- How are new restoration activities authorized under the RESTORE Act integrated with existing restoration programs and efforts, without causing overlap?
- Will there be assurances that project monitoring and oversight are measured with similar metrics? Will data and results from restoration activities be comparable to similar activities implemented by another entity?
- Will baseline ecosystem restoration activities continue under their authorities and funding or will they be integrated into efforts authorized under the RESTORE Act and other *Deepwater Horizon*-related restoration activities?

Planning

Another potential issue for Congress is the status and content of multiple planning processes related to Gulf restoration. Although the planning process and implementation progress under the RESTORE Act may receive significant attention from Congress, planning under the NFWF and NRDA processes may be of interest to some in Congress, as well.

As discussed previously, the Gulf Coast Ecosystem Restoration Council published a Comprehensive Plan Update in December 2016. The stated intent of the plan is to provide a framework to implement restoration activities in the Gulf Coast region. When it was published, the council noted that the updated plan was intended to "provide strategic guidance that will help the Council more effectively address these complex and critical challenges and supersedes the Initial Plan approved by the Council in August 2013."⁸³

The Comprehensive Plan Update published by the council included some of the elements required by Congress that were not in the Initial Plan. Among these, it included a description of the process underpinning project selection and state expenditure plans, as well as congressionally required elements, such as the 10-Year Funding Strategy and the 3-year FPL. Additionally, other elements that are related to Gulf Coast restoration were not required by Congress to be included in the report. For instance, Congress did not require that the report cover the Direct Component under the RESTORE Act (i.e., funding which goes directly to states). Similarly, activities under the Gulf Coast Science Program and centers of excellence were not included in this plan.

The two other Gulf Coast restoration planning processes discussed herein are those coordinated by NFWF and NRDA trustees, respectively. Notably, neither is governed by RESTORE Act planning processes. NFWF restoration actions are governed first by the criminal settlements between DOJ and BP and DOJ and Transocean (and subsequent guidance from NFWF), whereas the NRDA planning process is governed by NOAA regulations, pursuant to the OPA. These planning processes may be more targeted than those under the RESTORE Act and are expected to proceed independently.

Another issue for Congress is whether the current approach to ecosystem restoration in the Gulf is effective and whether or not it would be better implemented under alternative organizational structures. For instance, in the Everglades, restoration is federally led and ostensibly guided by a centralized, "comprehensive" plan, known as the Comprehensive Everglades Restoration Plan (CERP). Authorized in the Water Resources Development Act of 2000 (P.L. 106-541), CERP

⁸³ Comprehensive Plan Update, p. 5.

outlined 68 distinct projects that are intended to comprise a large amount of the restoration effort. Generally speaking, CERP is more centralized and detailed than the comprehensive planning process that has been carried out for the Gulf under the RESTORE Act to date. However, it is similar to the current planning process in the Gulf in that it is dependent on other restoration efforts that are not formally covered by CERP or led by the federal government.⁸⁴ In the case of the Everglades, planning for these activities is coordinated by a separate congressionally authorized body, the South Florida Ecosystem Restoration Task Force.⁸⁵ A complete comparison and assessment of the disparate planning processes in the Gulf is made difficult by the absence of some information from the processes. For instance, to date no plans have provided an estimated time frame for completing restoration, nor have the plans addressed the maintenance of restoration activities when funding has been exhausted and governance structures have been dissolved. The Comprehensive Plan Update discusses consideration of regional planning frameworks, with collaboration meetings and workshops to begin in 2017, but as of July 2017 no such documentation is available.⁸⁶ Potential questions Congress may have related to planning for restoration may include the following:

- How is the planning process under the RESTORE Act incorporating other processes, such as those related to prespill restoration activities or restoration activities conducted by states and other entities such as NFWF or under NRDA?
- What is the anticipated time line for the implementation of the individual elements of the RESTORE Act?
- Will a vision or set of criteria for defining what a restored ecosystem will look like be created or required under RESTORE Act and other planning processes in the Gulf? Will it include an estimate of how long restoration will take or how much it will cost?
- Who will be responsible for providing future funding to continue restoration activities in the Gulf after activities funded under the *Deepwater Horizon* settlements are complete?
- In addition to the 3% limit on administrative expenditures, will there be limits for other expenditure types?
- What internal and external controls procedures or processes are overseeing Gulf Coast restoration planning, and how effective have they been?

Implementation

Implementation and governance of restoration activities in the Gulf is another important aspect of restoration that is still under development by various entities involved in the Gulf Coast. Several questions related to implementation of activities could be posed, including questions on the division of labor between federal and state activities, how progress will be measured, and the timing of activities going forward.

As discussed previously, restoration activities in the Gulf Region will be implemented by several federal, state, and nongovernmental entities under different structures. The RESTORE Act does

⁸⁴ For instance, restoration of the Everglades also depends on "non-CERP" restoration in Everglades National Park, the Central Everglades and water quality projects being carried out by the State of Florida.

⁸⁵ The task force was authorized under the Water Resources Development Act of 1996 (P.L. 104-303), Section 528(f) and consists of 14 members from federal state, tribal, and local governments.

⁸⁶ Comprehensive Plan Update, p. 22.

not specify an overarching entity that would monitor and report on the implementation of all aspects of restoration. The council's responsibility appears to be focused on the implementation of the Comprehensive Plan and state plans pursuant to the Spill Impact Component, while NRDA and NFWF plans will focus on those elements separately.⁸⁷ This could raise questions about how restoration activities derived from various funding streams relate to each other. For example,

- Will any entity be responsible for evaluating and reporting on the overall status of restoration activities in the Gulf, or will reporting be conducted separately?
- If restoration crosses state borders, will there be oversight to determine if restoration activities among states are complementary or contrasting?
- How will conflicting implementation objectives be handled among the various initiatives?

Monitoring the implementation and progress of all restoration activities and actions does not appear to be the objective of any one entity in this restoration initiative. The Gulf Coast Ecosystem Restoration Council is responsible for reporting on the progress of projects or programs to protect the Gulf Coast region under the Comprehensive Plan and State Plans, but it appears to have limited authorities over other activities. Two projects on the initial FPL include the Council Monitoring and Assessment Program and the Gulf of Mexico Alliance Monitoring Community of Practice.⁸⁸ These projects would fund the development of Gulf region-wide monitoring, create a data management plan, and collaborate with other restoration entities.⁸⁹ This could lead to questions such as the following:

- Is the council considered the overarching entity for measuring the progress of restoration based on all restoration actions or those just associated with the Comprehensive Plan? Does it have authorities that it is not using?
- Will the council be measuring the progress of individual projects and programs or addressing the overall, holistic view of restoration? What indicators and metrics are being used?
- When the fund is empty and the council is dissolved, who will be responsible for maintaining the restoration initiative or measuring its progress?
- Is adaptive management being used to evaluate and guide restoration actions?
- Is there a process or entity that could change the direction of restoration efforts, and would they have the authority to initiate and carry out holistic changes or just changes to individual projects and programs?

Balancing Goals

Restoration in the Gulf Coast is different from some other restoration initiatives around the nation, primarily because a considerable amount of funding is expected to be provided up front toward the dual objectives of restoring the ecosystem and the economic vitality of the Gulf Coast. Some in Congress might seek to weigh in on how efficiently funds are used to satisfy the dual goals of restoration and economic vitality, and may conduct oversight on balance of resources used for restoring the ecosystem versus restoring the economy of the region. Under the

⁸⁷ Under 33 U.S.C. 1321(t)(3)(B)(i) state plans are to take into consideration the Comprehensive Plan and be consistent with the goals and objectives of that plan.

⁸⁸ Updated factsheets on the Council Monitoring and Assessment Program and the Gulf of Mexico Alliance Monitoring Community of Practice available at https://www.restorethegulf.gov/gcerc-funded-priorities-list-factsheets.

⁸⁹ Comprehensive Plan Update, p. 28.

RESTORE Act and Treasury regulations, there are no formulas or provisions that address the exact balance of efforts to restore the ecosystem and the economy. Acknowledging that these two objectives are not mutually exclusive, preliminary questions could include the following:

- How will funding allocated from the Gulf Coast Restoration Trust Fund balance the dual goals of ecosystem restoration and economic restoration?
- Under state plans, will there be guidance on how funds should be split among economic and ecosystem-related projects?
- Is restoration funding derived from the trust fund intended to replace state funding for ecosystem restoration and economic vitality or add to existing restoration funding in state budgets?⁹⁰
- The Comprehensive Plan Update contains seven objectives and notes that funding for these objectives will not be equally distributed.⁹¹ How will the funding be distributed? Are the objectives prioritized?
- Is the Comprehensive Plan Update prioritizing ecological activities over economic activities?
- Will the concept of ecosystem services be used to determine the priority of projects to be implemented? If so, how will the assessment of ecosystem services be conducted?

Concluding Remarks

Although implementation has progressed on several fronts, several aspects of Gulf Coast restoration planning, implementation, and funding are uncertain or still being developed. Some funding under the RESTORE Act, NFWF, and NRDA early restoration efforts has been released. Developments, such as the BP settlement, and the release of funding under NFWF, NRDA, and RESTORE Act processes, have increased the attention on Gulf Coast restoration. As the multiple processes governing these efforts move forward, Congress might consider questions related to their coordination, planning, and implementation and may look to other comparable initiatives for lessons learned that could be incorporated into work on the Gulf Coast. Questions aimed at addressing adaptive management, governance, and striking a balance between restoration and the economy could be among the issues raised in congressional oversight of Gulf Coast restoration.

⁹⁰ Under the Great Lakes Restoration Initiative (GLRI), federal funding for the initiative is provided largely in addition to existing, base funding for restoration actions. Federal agencies are specifically directed not to substitute GLRI funding for existing funding.

⁹¹ Comprehensive Plan Update, p. 12.

Appendix. Sources of Funding and Ongoing Federal Efforts for Gulf Coast Restoration

Source/Mechanism	Status	Amount and Uses for Restoration Activities		
Anadarko Civil Settlement	Approved by the U.S. District Court in the Eastern District of Louisiana on November 20, 2015	\$159.5 million, of which \$128 million is to be made available pursuant to the RESTORE Act.		
BP Civil Settlement	Approved by the U.S. District Court in the Eastern District of Louisiana on April 4, 2016	The civil claims total more than \$20 billion. Over a 15-year period, BP will pay		
		 Clean Water Act civil penalty of \$5.5 billion, plus interest, 80% of which will go to restoration efforts through the RESTORE Act; 		
		 \$8.1 billion in natural resource damages (this includes \$1 billion BP already committed to pay for early restoration); 		
		 Up to an additional \$700 million (some of which is in the form of accrued interest) for adaptive management or to address injuries to natural resources that are presently unknown but may come to light in the future; and 		
		• \$600 million for other claims, including claims under the False Claims Act, royalties, and reimbursement of natural resource damage assessment costs and other expenses due to this incident. ^a		
		BP also reached a separate agreement with the Gulf states to pay \$4.9 billion, in total, to the five Gulf states and up to \$1 billion to local governments.		
Transocean Civil Settlement	Approved by the U.S. District Court in the Eastern District of Louisiana on February 14, 2013	\$1 billion, of which 20% goes to the Oil Spill Liability Trust Fund and 80% (\$800 million) goes into the Gulf Coast Restoration Trust Fund, to be divided as outlined under the RESTORE Act (P.L. 112- 141, see "RESTORE Act/Gulf Coast Ecosystem Restoration Trust Fund" section):		

Table A-I. Sources of Funding for Restoration in the Gulf Region

(includes established and potential sources; does not include allocations for non-restoration activities)

Source/Mechanism	Status	Amount and Uses for Restoration Activities	
		 35% divided equally among the five Gulf states to be applied toward one or more of 11 designated activities (including environmental and economic objectives); 	
		 30% disbursed by the council to the five Gulf states, based on specific criteria (i.e. not equal shares): shoreline impact, oiled- shoreline distance from the <i>Deepwater Horizon</i> rig, and coastal population. Each state must submit a plan for approval, documenting how funding will support one or more of the 11 designated activities; 	
		 30% provided to a newly created Gulf Coast Ecosystem Restoration Council to finance ecosystem restoration activities in the Gulf Coast region; 	
		 2.5% for the Gulf Coast Ecosystem Restoration Science, Observation, Monitoring, and Technology Program; and 	
		• 2.5% to the five Gulf states to establish centers of excellence through a competitive grant program.	
Transocean Criminal Settlement	Approved by the U.S. District Court in the Eastern District of Louisiana on February 14, 2013	\$150 million to NFWF to support restoration efforts in the Gulf states related to the damages from the <i>Deepwater Horizon</i> oil spill NFWF will allocate funding as follows:	
		 50% to support barrier island and/or river projects in Louisiana; 	
		 I4% to support projects in Alabama; 	
		 I4% to support projects in Florida; 	
		 I4% to support projects in Mississippi; and 	
		• 8% to support projects in in Texas.	
MOEX Civil Settlement	Approved by the U.S. District Court in the Eastern District of Louisiana on June 8, 2012	\$25 million is to be distributed in various amounts among the five Gulf states for unspecified purposes.	
		Supplemental environmental projects:	
		• Florida (\$5 million);	
		• Louisiana (\$6.75 million);	
		Mississippi (\$5 million); and	
		• Texas (\$3.25 million).	

Source: Table compiled by CRS.

a. See https://www.justice.gov/enrd/file/838066/download.

Table A-2. Ongoing Federal Ecosystem Restoration and Related Efforts in the Gulf

Initiative	Description/Issue Addressed	Agency Lead
Louisiana Coastal Area Protection and Restoration Plan (LCAPR)	Comprehensive ecosystem restoration and hurricane protection plan for Coastal Louisiana.	Corps
Louisiana Coastal Area Near-Term Plan (LCA)	Projects to improve ecosystem function in coastal Louisiana, as well as other incidental benefits. Projects include beneficial use of dredged material, diversion of sediment and water, barrier island restoration, and coastal protection	Corps
Mississippi Area Coastal Improvement Program (MsCIP)	Comprehensive planning to address hurricane/storm damage reduction, salt water intrusion, shoreline erosion, fish and wildlife preservation through restoration and flood control projects in coastal Mississippi.	Corps
Gulf Hypoxia Task Force	Provides executive-level direction and support for coordinating the actions of 10 states and 5 federal agencies working on nutrient management within the Mississippi River and Gulf of Mexico watershed.	EPA (chair)
Comprehensive Everglades Restoration Plan (CERP)	Federal/state framework to restore, protect, and preserve the water resources of central and southern Florida, including the Everglades.	Corps/DOI
National Ocean Council	Coordinates federal stewardship efforts for oceans through support for regional planning bodies, including one such body for the Gulf of Mexico.	CEQ/OSTP (co-chairs)
National Estuary Program (NEP)	Works to restore and maintain water quality and ecological integrity of estuaries of national significance. Seven of 18 NEPs are in the Gulf Region.	EPA
Gulf of Mexico Program/Gulf of Mexico Alliance	Program to facilitate collaborative actions to protect, maintain, and restore health and productivity of the Gulf of Mexico. Made up of Gulf Coast governors and supported by 13 federal agencies.	EPA (DOI, NOAA co- leads)
Coastal Wetlands Planning Protection and Restoration Act (CWPPRA)	Federal/state program that focuses on marsh creation, restoration, protection, and enhancement as well as barrier island restoration. CWPPRA has planned and designed several larger-scale projects, which may be constructed by other initiatives.	FWS
Coastal and Estuarine Land Conservation Program (CELCP)	Provides matching funds to state and local governments to purchase significant coastal and estuarine lands from willing sellers.	NOAA
North American Wetlands Conservation Act (NAWCA)	Provides matching grants to organizations and individuals that have developed partnerships to carry out wetlands conservation projects for the benefit of wetlands-associated migratory birds and other wildlife.	FWS

(selected federal coordination and funding efforts in the Gulf Coast region)

Sources: Table compiled by CRS from multiple sources, including U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Gulf of Mexico Regional Ecosystem Restoration Strategy and America's Gulf Coast: A Long-Term Recovery Plan after the Deepwater Horizon Oil Spill (also referred to as the "Mabus Report").

Notes: List is illustrative of federal efforts only and does not include state-led efforts. List of federal efforts is not exhaustive. CEQ = White House Council on Environmental Quality; Corps = U.S. Army Corps of Engineers; DOI = U.S. Department of the Interior; EPA = U.S. Environmental Protection Agency; FWS = U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service; NOAA = National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration; OSTP = White House Office of Science and Technology Policy.

Author Contact Information

(name redacted) Specialist in Natural Resources Policy [redacted]@crs.loc,gbv...

(name redacted) Acting Section Research Manager [redacted]@crs.loc.go7-.... (name redacted) Specialist in Environmental Policy [redacted]@crs.loc.goy7-....

EveryCRSReport.com

The Congressional Research Service (CRS) is a federal legislative branch agency, housed inside the Library of Congress, charged with providing the United States Congress non-partisan advice on issues that may come before Congress.

EveryCRSReport.com republishes CRS reports that are available to all Congressional staff. The reports are not classified, and Members of Congress routinely make individual reports available to the public.

Prior to our republication, we redacted names, phone numbers and email addresses of analysts who produced the reports. We also added this page to the report. We have not intentionally made any other changes to any report published on EveryCRSReport.com.

CRS reports, as a work of the United States government, are not subject to copyright protection in the United States. Any CRS report may be reproduced and distributed in its entirety without permission from CRS. However, as a CRS report may include copyrighted images or material from a third party, you may need to obtain permission of the copyright holder if you wish to copy or otherwise use copyrighted material.

Information in a CRS report should not be relied upon for purposes other than public understanding of information that has been provided by CRS to members of Congress in connection with CRS' institutional role.

EveryCRSReport.com is not a government website and is not affiliated with CRS. We do not claim copyright on any CRS report we have republished.